Society Incorporation Number: S0073469





STATUTES OF SAINT JOHN PAUL II ACADEMY SOCIETY

(the "Society")

Article 1 Interpretation

1.1 Definitions

Without limiting Section 1.2, in these Bylaws, unless the context requires otherwise:

- (a) "Appointed Director" has the meaning given to the term in Section 6.2(a).
- (b) "Archbishop" means The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Vancouver, a corporation sole pursuant to *The Roman Catholic Archbishop of Vancouver Incorporation Act*, S.B.C. 1909 c. 62, as amended, and, for the purposes of these Bylaws, the Archbishop shall be deemed a natural person of full capacity.
- (c) "**Board**" means the directors of the Society.
- (d) "Bylaws" means these Statutes of Saint John Paul II Academy Society, as amended from time to time.
- (e) "Catholic" and "Roman Catholic" are used interchangeably and, when used in relation to an educational institution (whether in the Society's constitution or these Bylaws), mean that such institution adheres to, promotes and proclaims the doctrines and tenets of the Roman Catholic faith. Any question at any time regarding whether or not an educational institution or person is Catholic shall be resolved by reference to the canonical authority of the Archbishop for a final and binding decision.
- (f) "Chair" means the chair of the Board, appointed in accordance with Section 12.1 and, subject to Section 12.3, with the duties described in Section 12.2(a).
- (g) "**Elected Director**" has the meaning given to the term in Section 6.2(c) and shall include first director who is not an Appointed Director or Ex Officio Director and a director appointed pursuant to Section 7.6.
- (h) "Ex Officio Director" has the meaning given to the term in Section 6.2(b).
- (i) "**Foundation**" means the Saint John Paul II Academy Foundation, a society incorporated pursuant to the Societies Act under incorporation number S0072071.
- (j) "Interpretation Act" means the *Interpretation Act*, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 238, as amended, restated or replaced from time to time, and includes its regulations.
- (k) "Nominating Committee" has the meaning given to the term in Section 11.2.

- (l) "Parent Community" includes those individuals of at least nineteen (19) years of age who are the parents, guardians or other family members of students currently registered for attendance at the School. Whether an individual or a particular group of individuals belongs to the Parent Community or shall be added to, or excluded from, the Parent Community may be determined in each case by Special Majority Decision of the Board from time to time and such decision shall be or deemed to be within the sole discretion of the Board.
- (m) "**President**" means the chief executive officer of the Society, appointed in accordance with Section 12.1 and, subject to Section 12.3, with the duties described in Section 12.2(c).
- (n) "Recognized School Supporters" may include individuals of at least nineteen (19) years, other than members of the Parent Community, who are donors, alumni, former directors of the Society and others who have made extra-ordinary or longstanding contributions to the School in each case as determined by Special Majority Decision of the Board from time to time. Whether an individual or a particular group of individuals belongs to the Recognized School Supporters or shall be added to, or excluded from, the Recognized School Supporters may be determined by Special Majority Decision of the Board from time to time and such decision shall be or deemed to be within the sole discretion of the Board.
- (o) "School" means the Saint John Paul II Academy.
- (p) "Secretary" means the secretary of the Society, appointed in accordance with Section 12.1 and, subject to Section 12.3, with the duties described in Section 12.2(e).
- (q) "**Societies Act**" means the *Societies Act*, S.B.C. 2015, c. 18, as amended, restated or replaced from time to time, and includes its regulations.
- (r) "Special Majority Decision" means: (i) a resolution of the directors passed at a meeting of the Board by at least 2/3 of the votes cast of the directors present and entitled to vote on such resolution; or (ii) a resolution consented to in writing by at least 2/3 of the directors who would be entitled to vote on such resolution.
- (s) "Treasurer" means the treasurer of the Society, appointed in accordance with Section 12.1 and, subject to Section 12.3, with the duties described in Section 12.2(f).
- (t) "Vice-Chair" means the vice-chair of the Board, appointed in accordance with Section 12.1 and, subject to Section 12.3, with the duties described in Section 12.2(b).

1.2 Definitions in Societies Act Apply

The definitions in the Societies Act apply to these Bylaws.

1.3 Interpretation Act Applies

The Interpretation Act applies to the interpretation of these Bylaws as if these articles were an enactment.

1.4 Conflict with Societies Act or Other Enactments

If a provision in these Bylaws is inconsistent with a mandatory provision of the Societies Act or any other enactment of British Columbia or Canada, such provision shall have no effect. If there is a conflict between a definition of the Societies Act and a definition or rule in the Interpretation Act relating to a term used in these Bylaws, the definition in the Societies Act will prevail in relation to the use of the term in these Bylaws.

1.5 Interpretation

In these Bylaws, words in the singular form include the plural and vice versa and words importing a specific gender include the other gender and a society.

Article 2 Mission, Philosophy and Catholic Identity

2.1 Mission

In operating the School as a Catholic school, the Society shares in the mission of the Catholic Church of helping students arrive at the fullness of Christian life, forming the whole person, "so that all may attain their eternal destiny and at the same time promote common good of society." Students will be helped to develop their physical, moral and intellectual gifts "so that they may attain a greater sense of responsibility and the right use of freedom," and take an active part of society. Nevertheless, the Society recognizes the primary place of parents in the education of their children and to this end will collaborate closely with them.

2.2 Philosophy

The philosophy of the Society is based on the Catholic Church's teaching on Catholic schools, enunciated in her official statements on the subject and the strong tradition of Catholic education in the Archdiocese of Vancouver. The Society heeds the challenge of St. John Paul II: "The mission of the laity, as an integral part of the salvific mission of the entire People of God, is of fundamental importance for the life of the Church and for the service which the Church itself is called to render to the world of humanity and of temporal realities." (Address to the Council of the General Secretariat of the Synod, May 29, 1984).

2.3 Catholic Identity

If and for as long as the Society is authorized by the competent ecclesiastical authority to use the name "Catholic" in operating the School, it is identified as a ministry of the Catholic Church in the Archdiocese of Vancouver. If, at any time, the Society no longer has the consent of the competent ecclesiastical authority for any reason (including, without limitation, withdrawal, cancellation, or revocation or suppression) to use the name "Catholic", the Society shall cease to operate the School and shall be dissolved in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act

and the Board and the members shall take all necessary steps to effect the dissolution of the Society without delay.

Article 3 Members

3.1 Members of the Society

The members of the Society are the applicants for incorporation of the Society and the individuals who are the directors of the Society. Membership in the Society is limited to the directors for the time being. The directors will automatically become members of the Society upon being elected or appointed as directors in accordance with these Bylaws.

3.2 Duties of Members

Every member must uphold the constitution of the Society and must comply with these Bylaws.

3.3 Membership Fees

There shall be no membership fees.

3.4 Membership not Transferable

The membership in the Society is not transferable.

3.5 Termination of Membership

The membership of a member in the Society terminates when:

- (a) ceasing for any reason to be a director of the Society;
- (b) the member resigns;
- (c) the member dies; or
- (d) the member is expelled.

Any amount owing by a member at the time of termination of membership shall remain due and owing to the Society.

3.6 Good Standing

All members will remain in good standing at all times.

Article 4 Meetings of Members

4.1 Annual General Meetings

Except for the year in which the Society is incorporated, and unless the holding of an annual general meeting is deferred in accordance with the Societies Act, the directors of the Society must call annual general meetings so that an annual general meeting is held in each calendar year.

4.2 Resolution Instead of Annual General Meeting

An annual general meeting is deemed to have been held if all matters that must, under the Societies Act or these Bylaws, be dealt with at that meeting (including the presentation to the members of the financial statements and auditor's report, if any) are dealt with in a resolution and all of the members consent in writing to the resolution on or before the date on which the annual general meeting must be held in accordance with Section 4.1.

4.3 Calling of General Meetings

Subject to Section 4.1, the Board may at any time call a general meeting of members at such date, time and location in British Columbia as may be determined by the Board. A general meeting may be held at a location outside British Columbia agreed on by every member before the meeting.

4.4 Notice of General Meeting

The Society shall give not less than 14 days written notice of the date, time and location of a general meeting to its members. Notice of a general meeting must state the nature of any business, other than ordinary business, to be transacted at the meeting in sufficient detail to permit a member receiving the notice to form a reasoned judgment concerning that business and must include the text of any special resolution to be submitted to the meeting.

4.5 Waiver of Notice

A person entitled to notice of a general meeting may, in any manner, waive that person's entitlement to notice of a general meeting or may agree to reduce the period of that notice. Attendance of a member at a general meeting is a waiver of the member's entitlement to notice of the meeting unless the member attends the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting is not lawfully called.

4.6 Accidental Omission

The accidental omission to send a notice of a general meeting to a member or the non-receipt of any notice by a member or any of the persons entitled to receive notice does not invalidate any proceedings at the general meeting.

4.7 Other Persons may Attend General Meetings

Other than the auditor, if any, under Section 14.8, the directors, the Chair, if any, the Vice-Chair, if any, the Secretary, if any, any lawyer for the Society, and any other person invited by the Board are entitled to attend a general meeting, but if any of those persons attends a general meeting, that person is not to be counted in the quorum and is not entitled to vote at the meeting, unless that person is a member.

Article 5 Proceedings at General Meetings

5.1 Ordinary Business at General Meeting

At a general meeting, the following business is ordinary business:

- (a) adoption of rules of order;
- (b) the approval of minutes of previous general meetings;
- (c) consideration of any financial statements of the Society presented to the meeting;
- (d) consideration of the report, if any, of the directors or auditor;
- (e) election or appointment of directors;
- (f) appointment of an auditor, if any; and
- (g) business arising out of a report of the directors not requiring the passing of a special resolution.

5.2 Matters to be Decided by Ordinary Resolution and Special Majority

A matter to be decided at a general meeting must be decided by ordinary resolution unless the matter is required by the Societies Act or the Bylaws to be decided by special resolution or by another resolution having a higher voting threshold than the threshold for an ordinary resolution. The majority of votes required for a special resolution to be passed at a general meeting is two-thirds of the votes cast by the members.

5.3 Chairing General Meetings

The following individual is entitled to preside as chair at a general meeting:

- (a) the Chair, if any; or
- (b) one of the other directors present at the general meeting, if the Chair is unable or unwilling to act as chair of the general meeting.

5.4 Selection of Alternate Chair of General Meeting

If there is no individual entitled under Section 5.3 who is able or willing to preside as chair of a general meeting within 15 minutes from the time set for holding the meeting, the members who are present must elect an individual present at the meeting to chair the meeting.

5.5 Quorum Necessary

Business, other than the election of the chair of the meeting and the adjournment or termination of the meeting, must not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members is present.

5.6 Quorum for General Meetings

The quorum for the transaction of business at a general meeting is five members. If the Society has fewer members than the quorum provided for above, the quorum for the transaction of business at a general meeting is all of the members.

5.7 Lack of Quorum

If, within 30 minutes from the time set for holding a general meeting, a quorum of members is not present:

- (a) in the case of a general meeting convened by requisition of members, the meeting is terminated; and
- (b) in any other case, the meeting stands adjourned to the same day in the next week, at the same time and place, and if, at the continuation of the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time set for holding the continuation of the adjourned meeting, the members who are present constitute the quorum for that meeting.

5.8 Quorum Ceases to be Present

If, at any time during a general meeting, there ceases to be a quorum of members present, business then in progress must be suspended until there is a quorum present or the meeting is adjourned or terminated.

5.9 Adjournments

The chair of a general meeting may, or if so directed by ordinary resolution, must adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business may be transacted at the continuation of the adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the adjourned meeting.

5.10 Notice of Adjourned General Meetings

It is not necessary to give any notice of a continuation of an adjourned general meeting or of the business to be transacted at a continuation of an adjourned general meeting except that, when a

general meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the continuation of the adjourned meeting must be given.

5.11 Participation by Telephone or other Communications Medium

A person who is entitled to participate in, including vote at, a general meeting may participate in person or by telephone or other communications medium if all of the persons participating in the meeting, whether in person, by telephone or other communications medium, are able to communicate with each other. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Society is not obligated to take any action to facilitate the use of a communications medium at a general meeting. A member who participates in a meeting in a manner contemplated in this Section 5.11 is deemed for all purposes of the Societies Act and these Bylaws to be present at the meeting and to have agreed to participate in that manner.

5.12 Order of Business at General Meeting

The order of business at a general meeting is as follows:

- (a) elect an individual to chair the meeting, if necessary;
- (b) determine that there is a quorum;
- (c) approve the agenda;
- (d) approve the minutes from the last general meeting;
- (e) deal with unfinished business from the last general meeting;
- (f) if the meeting is an annual general meeting:
 - (i) receive the directors' report on the financial statements of the Society for the previous financial year, and the auditor's report, if any, on those statements;
 - (ii) receive any other reports of directors' activities and decisions since the previous annual meeting;
 - (iii) elect or appoint directors; and
 - (iv) appoint an auditor, if any;
- (g) deal with new business, including any matters about which notice has been given to the members in the notice of meeting; and
- (h) terminate the meeting.

5.13 Motions Need not be Seconded

No motion proposed at a general meeting need be seconded unless the chair of the meeting rules otherwise and the chair of any general meeting is entitled to propose or second a motion.

5.14 Number of Votes

Each member has only one vote.

5.15 Methods of Voting

At a general meeting, voting shall be by a show of hands, an oral vote or another method that adequately discloses the intention of the members, except that if, before or after such a vote, two or more members request a secret ballot or a secret ballot is directed by the chair of the meeting, voting must be by a secret ballot.

5.16 Secret Ballots

Subject to Section 5.17, if a secret ballot is duly demanded or directed at a general meeting:

- (a) the secret ballot must be taken:
 - (i) at the meeting, or within seven days after the date of the meeting, as the chair of the meeting directs; and
 - (ii) in the manner, at the time and at the place that the chair of the meeting directs:
- (b) the result of the secret ballot is deemed to be a resolution of and passed at the meeting at which the secret ballot is demanded; and
- (c) the demand for the secret ballot may be withdrawn by the persons who demanded it.

5.17 Demand for a Secret Ballot on Adjournment

A secret ballot demanded at a general meeting on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately at the meeting.

5.18 Chair Must Resolve Dispute

In case of any dispute as to the admission or rejection of a vote given on a secret ballot, the chair of the meeting must determine the dispute, and his or her determination made in good faith is final and conclusive.

5.19 No Voting by Proxy

Voting by proxy will not be permitted.

5.20 Demand for a Secret Ballot Not to Prevent Continuation of Meeting

The demand for a secret ballot at a general meeting does not, unless the chair of the meeting so rules, prevent the continuation of a meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question on which a poll has been demanded.

5.21 Casting Vote

In case of an equality of votes, the chair of a general meeting does not have a second or casting vote in addition to the vote to which the chair may be entitled as a member.

5.22 Declaration of Result

The chair of a general meeting must declare to the meeting the outcome of each vote and that outcome must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. A declaration of the chair that a resolution is carried by the necessary majority or is defeated is, unless a poll is directed by the chair or demanded under Section 5.16, conclusive evidence without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against a resolution.

5.23 Retention of Ballots

The Society must, for at least three months after a general meeting, keep each ballot cast on a secret ballot voted at the meeting, and, during that period, make them available for inspection during statutory business hours by any member entitled to vote at the meeting. At the end of such three month period, the Society may destroy such ballots.

Article 6 Directors

6.1 Number of Directors

The Society shall have a minimum of seven and a maximum of 13 directors. At least one director must be ordinarily resident in British Columbia.

6.2 Composition of the Board

The Board will be composed as follows:

- (a) four directors appointed by the Archbishop (each an "Appointed Director");
- (b) the chair of the Foundation (the "Ex Officio Director"); and
- (c) up to eight elected directors (each an "Elected Director").

6.3 Individuals not Qualified to be Directors

An individual is not qualified to be a director of the Society if the individual is:

- (a) an "ineligible individual" as defined in section 149.1(1) of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada);
- (b) less than 18 years of age;
- (c) found by any court, in Canada or elsewhere, to be incapable of managing the individual's own affairs;
- (d) an undischarged bankrupt; or
- (e) convicted in British Columbia or elsewhere of an offence in connection with the promotion, formation or management of a Society or unincorporated entity, or of an offence involving fraud, unless:
 - (i) the court orders otherwise;
 - (ii) 5 years have elapsed since the last to occur of:
 - (A) the expiration of the period set for suspension of the passing of sentence without a sentence having been passed;
 - (B) the imposition of a fine;
 - (C) the conclusion of the term of any imprisonment; and
 - (D) the conclusion of the term of any probation imposed; or
 - (iii) a pardon was granted or issued, or a record suspension was ordered, under the *Criminal Records Act* (Canada) and the pardon or record suspension, as the case may be, has not been revoked or ceased to have effect.

6.4 Director not Qualified must Resign

A director who is not, or who ceases to be, qualified to be a director must promptly resign.

Employment of Directors

A majority of the directors shall not receive or be entitled to receive remuneration from the Society under contracts of employment or contracts for service. The Society may reimburse a director for reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by the director in performing the duties of a director.

6.6 Remuneration and Reimbursement of Directors

The Society shall not pay a director remuneration for being a director. The Society may reimburse a director for reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by the director in performing the duties of a director.

6.7 Validity of Acts of Directors

An act of a director or of the Society is not invalid merely because:

- (a) of a defect in the director's designation, election or appointment or in the qualifications of that director;
- (b) fewer than the required number of directors have been designated, elected or appointed;
- (c) the residency requirements for the directors have not been met; or
- (d) the majority of the directors, contrary to Section 6.5 or the Societies Act, receive or are entitled to receive remuneration from the Society under contracts of employment or contracts for service.

6.8 Directors' Acts not Invalidated

No member's resolution invalidates a prior act of the directors that would have been valid if that resolution had not been made.

Article 7 Election, Appointment, Removal and Changes of Directors

7.1 First Directors

The first directors of the Society are the individuals designated as the Society's directors on the first statement of directors and registered office filed with the registrar with its incorporation application. The term of the first directors, except for the Appointed Directors and the Ex Officio Director, shall expire at the close of the first annual general meeting of the Society following its incorporation.

7.2 Appointed Directors

- (a) The Archbishop is entitled to appoint four Appointed Directors to the Board of the Society.
- (b) Written notice to the Society signed by the Archbishop or his duly authorized representatives delivered to the Society shall be sufficient to establish the credentials of the Appointed Directors.
- (c) The term of office of an Appointed Director will expire at the close of the second annual general meeting of the Society following the date on which the respective Appointed Director took office.
- (d) There shall be no limit on the number of terms that an Appointed Director may serve.

(e) The Archbishop or his duly authorized representative shall be entitled at any time, by written notice to the Society, to remove an Appointed Director and to appoint a successor and to fill any casual vacancy, or any vacancy as a result of Section 7.10, among the Appointed Directors.

7.3 Number, Term, Qualifications and Election of Elected Directors

- (a) The number of Elected Directors shall be set by the Board from time to time, provided that such number is an even number so that one half of the Elected Directors may be elected from the Parent Community and other half from the Recognized School Supporters. For greater clarity, and by way of example only, if the Board sets the number of Elected Directors at four, then two Elected Directors shall be elected from the Parent Community and the other two Directors shall be elected from the Recognized School Supporters.
- (b) Each Elected Director shall be elected to hold office until the close of the second annual general meeting after such Elected Director is elected, at which time, each such Elected Director shall retire, but, if qualified, shall be eligible for re-election. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term of an Elected Director may, as part of the election proceeding, be specified by the Board to expire at the next annual general meeting or at the second annual general meeting following such Director's election in order to ensure the terms of office of one-half of the number of Elected Directors expire at each annual general meeting or for any other reason. In determining which Elected Directors' terms shall be shorter, the Board shall ensure that an equal number of Elected Directors shall be elected from the Parent Community and the Recognized School Supporters at annual general meetings.
- (c) No Elected Director shall serve for more than four terms (whether or not such terms are served consecutively). For the purpose of calculating an Elected Director's terms: (i) a term served as first director in accordance with Section 7.1; (ii) any term that is shortened pursuant to Section 7.3(b); or (iii) any term served to fill a vacancy in accordance with Sections 7.6 or 7.10 shall not be counted.
- (d) Candidates for the positions of Elected Directors to be elected or appointed from the Parent Community shall be members of the Parent Community and candidates to be elected or appointed from the Recognized School Supporters shall be members of the Recognized School Supporters. The same qualifications shall apply to directors appointed pursuant to Sections 7.6 or 7.10.
- (e) Candidates for the positions of Elected Directors shall be nominated by the Nominating Committee. In doing so, the Nominating Committee may, in its sole discretion, consider proposals submitted in writing and duly signed by at least five members of the Parent Community or the Recognized School Supporters, respectively. For greater clarity, members of the Parent Community may only propose candidates for Elected Director positions to be filled from the Parent Community and members of the Recognized School Supporters may only propose candidates for Elected Director positions to be filled from the Recognized School Supporters. All proposals must be received by the Nominating Committee at least

- sixty (60) days prior to the annual general meeting of the Society at which an election of Elected Directors must occur.
- (f) The Nominating Committee shall provide a list of nominees to the Chair at least thirty (30) days prior to the annual general meeting of the Society at which an election of Elected Directors must occur. The Chair shall ensure that the list of candidates nominated by the Nominating Committee is sent to each member of the Society with the notice for such annual general meeting of the Society.
- (g) If the number of candidates nominated by the Nominating Committee exceeds the number of Elected Director vacancies for a particular member class, then the members of the respective member class shall elect the respective Elected Directors from the candidates that have been nominated with respect to such member class. If the number of candidates nominated by the Nominating Committee is equal to the number of Elected Directors vacancies, then such candidates shall be elected as directors by acclamation effective at the close of the annual general meeting of the Society.
- (h) If the Nominating Committee does not provide a list of a sufficient number of nominees to the Chair at least thirty (30) days prior to the annual general meeting, then the Archbishop may nominate candidates to fill any Elected Director vacancies. Such nominations shall be submitted to the Chair at least five (5) days prior to the annual general meeting.

7.4 Consent to be a Director

No designation, election or appointment of an individual as a director is valid unless:

- (a) that individual consents to be a director in writing to be a director of the Society; or
- (b) the designation, election or appointment is made at a meeting at which the individual is present and the individual does not refuse, at the meeting, to be a director.

7.5 Failure to Elect Directors

If:

- (a) the Society fails to hold an annual general meeting, and all the members who are entitled to vote at an annual general meeting fail to pass the resolution contemplated by Section 4.2 on or before the date by which the annual general meeting is required to be held under Section 4.1 or
- (b) the members fail, at the annual general meeting or in the resolution contemplated by Section 4.2, to elect or appoint any directors;

then each Elected Director whose term would have expired at such annual general meeting continues to hold office until the earlier of:

- (c) the date on which such Elected Director's successor is elected; and
- (d) the date on which such director otherwise ceases to hold office under the Societies Act or these Bylaws.

7.6 Directors May Fill Casual Vacancies

Subject to Sections 6.3 and 7.3(d), the Board may, at any time, appoint an individual as a director to fill a vacancy of an Elected Director that arises as a result of the resignation, removal, death or incapacity of an Elected Director. A director so appointed ceases to be a director at the end of the unexpired portion of the term of office of the Elected Director whose vacancy is being filled by the Board.

7.7 Remaining Directors' Power to Act

The directors may act notwithstanding any vacancy in the Board, but if the Society has fewer directors in office than the minimum number of directors set pursuant to these Bylaws, the directors may only act for the purpose of appointing directors up to that number or of calling a general meeting for the purpose of filling any vacancies on the Board or, subject to the Societies Act, for any other purpose.

7.8 Ceasing to be a Director

A director ceases to be a director when:

- (a) the director's term of office expires;
- (b) the director dies or resigns;
- (c) the director is removed from office pursuant to Section 7.10; or
- (d) the director otherwise ceases to hold office in accordance with these Bylaws.

7.9 Resignation of Directors

A director who intends to resign must give the resignation to the Society in writing, and the resignation takes effect on the later of the following:

- (a) the receipt by the Society of the written resignation;
- (b) if the written resignation states that the resignation is to take effect on a specified date, specified date and time, or on the occurrence of a specified event:
 - (i) if a date is specified, the beginning of the day on the specified date;
 - (ii) if a date and time are specified, that date and time; or
 - (iii) if an event is specified, the occurrence of that event.

7.10 Removal of Director

A director may be removed from office by special resolution. If an Elected Director is removed, the members entitled to vote may elect, or appoint by ordinary resolution, an individual as director to fill the resulting vacancy. If the members do not elect or appoint a director to fill the resulting vacancy contemporaneously with the removal, then the directors may fill that vacancy in accordance with Section 7.6. An individual elected or appointed pursuant to this Section 7.10 or Sections 7.2(e) or **Error! Reference source not found.** shall serve as director for the balance of the term of the removed director.

Article 8 Powers and Duties of Directors

8.1 Powers and Function of Directors

Subject to the Societies Act and these Bylaws, the Board shall manage or supervise the management of the activities and internal affairs of the Society.

8.2 Duties of Directors

A director of the Society must, when exercising the powers and performing the functions of a director, act with a view to the purposes of the Society and must:

- (a) act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Society;
- (b) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent individual would exercise in comparable circumstances;
- (c) act in accordance with the Societies Act; and
- (d) subject to Sections 8.2(a) to 8.2(c), act in accordance with these Bylaws.

8.3 Appointment of Attorney of Society

The Board exclusively may from time to time, by power of attorney or other instrument, under seal if so required by law, appoint any person to be the attorney of the Society for such purposes, and with such powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Board under these Bylaws and excepting the power to fill vacancies in the Board, to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the Board, or to appoint or remove senior managers appointed by the directors) and for such period, and with such remuneration and subject to such conditions as the Board may think fit. Any such power of attorney may contain such provisions for the protection or convenience of persons dealing with such attorney as the Board thinks fit. Any such attorney may be authorized by the Board to subdelegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in such attorney.

8.4 Delegation by Directors

For greater certainty, the powers of the Board under this Article 8 may be exercised by a director, senior manager, committee or other delegate, direct or indirect, of the Board authorized by the Board to exercise such powers.

Article 9 Disclosure of Interest of Directors and Senior Managers

9.1 Definitions

For the purposes of this Article 9:

- (a) "Disclosable Interest" means a direct or indirect material interest in a Matter; and
- (b) "Matter" means:
 - (i) a contract or transaction, or a proposed contract or transaction, of the Society; or
 - (ii) a matter that is or is to be the subject of consideration by the Board, if that interest could result in the creation of a duty or interest that materially conflicts with that director's or senior manager's duty or interest as a director or senior manager of the Society;
 - (iii) but does not include a contract or transaction, or proposed contract or transaction, or matter that relates to:
 - (A) a payment to a director by the Society for remuneration for being a director, if otherwise permitted by these Bylaws, or reimbursement of a director by the Society of the director's expenses;
 - (B) indemnification of or payment to a director under these Bylaws or the Societies Act; or
 - (C) the purchase or maintenance of insurance for the benefit of a director.

9.2 Disclosure of Interest and Conduct by Director

A director who has a Disclosable Interest in a Matter must:

- (a) disclose fully and promptly to the other directors the nature and extent of the Disclosable Interest:
- (b) abstain from voting on a Board resolution or from consenting to a consent resolution of the Board in respect of the Matter;

- (c) leave the Board meeting, if any, when the Matter is discussed, unless asked by the other directors to be present to provide information, and when the other directors vote on the Matter; and
- (d) refrain from any action intended to influence the discussion or vote by the other directors.

9.3 Disclosure of Interest and Conduct by Senior Manager

A senior manager who has a Disclosable Interest in a Matter must:

- (a) disclose fully and promptly to the Board the nature and extent of the Disclosable Interest;
- (b) if the Matter is to be the discussed at a Board meeting at which the senior manager is present, leave the Board meeting, if any, when the Matter is discussed, unless asked by the Board to be present to provide information, and when the Board votes on the Matter; and
- (c) refrain from any action intended to influence the discussion or vote by the Board.

9.4 Evidence of Disclosure

A disclosure under Sections 9.2 or 9.3 must be evidenced in at least one of the following records:

- (a) the minutes of a Board meeting;
- (b) a consent resolution by the Board; or
- (c) a record addressed to the Board that is delivered to the delivery address or mailed by registered mail to the mailing address, of the registered office of the Society.

9.5 Exceptions

If all of the directors have disclosed a Disclosable Interest in a Matter, any or all of the directors may vote on a Board resolution or consent to a consent resolution of the Board in respect of the Matter and Sections 9.2(b) to 9.2(d) do not apply.

9.6 Obligation to Account for Profits

A director or senior manager who has a Disclosable Interest must pay to the Society an amount equal to any profit made by the director or senior manager as a consequence of the Society entering into or performing a contract or transaction unless:

(a) the director or senior manager discloses the Disclosable Interest in the contract or transaction in accordance with, and otherwise complies with Sections 9.2 or 9.3, as applicable, and, after the disclosure, the contract or transaction is approved by a resolution of the Board; or

(b) the contract or transaction is approved by a special resolution after the nature and extent of the director's or senior manager's interest in the contract or transaction has been fully disclosed to the members.

9.7 Validity of Contracts

Subject to the Societies Act, the fact that a director or senior manager is in any way, directly or indirectly, materially interested in a contract or transaction that the Society has entered into or proposes to enter into does not make the contract or transaction void.

Article 10 Proceedings of Directors

10.1 Board Meetings

The Board may meet for the conduct of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit, and meetings of the Board held at regular intervals may be held at the place, at the time and on the notice, if any, that the Board may by resolution from time to time determine.

10.2 Voting at Meetings

Questions arising at any Board meeting are to be decided by a majority of votes and, in the case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting does not have a second or casting vote. No motion proposed at a Board meeting need be seconded unless the chair of the meeting rules otherwise.

10.3 Chair of Meetings

Meetings of Board are to be chaired by:

- (a) the Chair, if any;
- (b) in the absence of the Chair, the Vice-Chair, if any; or
- (c) any other director chosen by the directors if:
 - (i) neither the Chair nor the Vice-Chair is present at the meeting within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting;
 - (ii) neither the Chair nor the Vice-Chair is willing to chair the meeting; or
 - (iii) the Chair and the Vice-Chair have advised the Secretary, if any, or any other director, that they will not be present at the meeting.

10.4 Meetings by Telephone or Other Communications Medium

A director may participate in a meeting of the Board or of any committee of the Board in person or by telephone or other communications medium if all directors participating in the meeting, whether in person or by telephone or other communications medium, are able to communicate

with each other. A director who participates in a meeting in a manner contemplated by this Section 10.4 is deemed for all purposes of the Societies Act and these Bylaws to be present at the meeting and to have agreed to participate in that manner.

10.5 Calling of Meetings

The Chair may, and the Secretary, on the request of at least three directors, must call a Board meeting at any time. If no Secretary is appointed, at least three directors may call a Board meeting at any time.

Notice of Meetings

Other than for meetings held at regular intervals as determined by the Board pursuant to Section 10.1, reasonable notice of each Board meeting, specifying the place, day and time of that meeting must be given to each of the directors by any method set out in Section 16.1 or orally or by telephone.

10.7 When Notice Not Required

It is not necessary to give notice of a meeting of the Board to a director if:

- (a) the meeting is to be held immediately following a general meeting at which that director was elected or appointed or is the Board meeting at which that director is appointed; or
- (b) the director has waived notice of the meeting.

10.8 Meeting Valid Despite Failure to Give Notice

The accidental omission to give notice of any Board meeting to any director, or the non-receipt of any notice by any director, does not invalidate any proceedings at that meeting.

10.9 Waiver of Notice of Meetings

A director may, in any manner, waive that director's entitlement to notice of a Board meeting or may agree to reduce the period of that notice. Attendance of a director at a Board meeting is a waiver of that director's entitlement to notice of the Board meeting unless that director attends the Board meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the Board meeting is not lawfully called.

10.10 Ouorum

The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the Board may be set by the Board and, if not so set, is deemed to be set at a majority of the directors then in office.

10.11 Consent Resolutions in Writing

A resolution of the Board or of any committee of the Board consented to in writing by all of the directors entitled to vote on it, whether by signed document, fax, email or any other method of

transmitting legibly recorded messages, is as valid and effective as if it had been passed at a Board meeting or of the committee of the Board duly called and held. Such resolution may be in two or more counterparts which together are deemed to constitute one resolution in writing. A resolution passed in that manner is effective on the date stated in the resolution or, if no date is stated in the resolution, on the latest date stated on any counterpart. A resolution of the Board or of any committee of the Board passed in accordance with this Section 10.11 is deemed to be a proceeding at a Board meeting or of the committee of the Board and to be as valid and effective as if it had been passed at a Board meeting or of the committee of the Board that satisfies all the requirements of the Societies Act and all the requirements of these Bylaws relating to Board meetings or of a committee of the Board.

Article 11 Executive and Other Committees

11.1 Executive Committee

The Board may, by resolution, appoint an executive committee consisting of the director or directors that the Board consider appropriate, and this committee has, during the intervals between meetings of the Board, all of the directors' powers, except:

- (a) the power to fill vacancies on the Board;
- (b) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the Board; and
- (c) such other powers, if any, as may be set out in that resolution or any subsequent Board resolution.

11.2 Finance Committee

The Board shall, by resolution appoint a finance committee consisting of at least three directors that the Board considers appropriate and the Treasurer, if any. The primary function of the finance committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by reviewing the financial statements, reports and other financial information provided by the Society to members, any governmental body or the public, the Society's systems of internal controls regarding finance, accounting and legal compliance that the Board or management have established; and the Society's auditing, accounting and financial process generally and to propose, where appropriate improvements of the Society's financial and auditing policies, procedures and practices. In particular, the duties of the finance committee shall include reviewing the annual financial statements of the Society together with discussing such statements with the auditor, if any; making recommendations to the Board with respect to the financial statements of the Society and the fees, if any, paid for audit services; to review the internal controls in the audit program of the auditor, if any; and to review and make recommendations to the Board with respect to the appointment or re-appointment of the auditor, if any.

11.3 Nominating Committee

The Board shall, by resolution, appoint a nominating committee (the "Nominating Committee") consisting of three directors: the Ex Officio Director, one Appointed Director and one additional director who, following the first annual general meeting of the Society, shall be an Elected Director whose term of office does not expire at the next annual general meeting or who is no longer eligible for re-election. The Nominating Committee shall exercise the powers and functions set forth in Article 7.

11.4 Other Committees

The Board may, by resolution:

- (a) appoint one or more committees (other than the executive committee) consisting of the director or directors or other individuals who the Board considers appropriate;
- (b) delegate to a committee appointed under Section 11.4(a) any of the directors' powers, except:
 - (i) the power to fill vacancies on the Board;
 - (ii) the power to change the membership of, or fill vacancies in, any committee of the board:
 - (iii) the power to appoint or remove senior managers appointed by the Board; and
- (c) make any delegation referred to in Section 11.4(b) subject to the conditions set out in the resolution.

11.5 Obligations of Committee

Any committee appointed under this Article 11, in the exercise of the powers delegated to it, must:

- (a) conform to any rules that may from time to time be imposed on it by the Board; and
- (b) report every act or thing done in the exercise of those powers as the Board may require.

11.6 Powers of Board

The Board may, at any time, with respect to a committee appointed under this Article 11:

(a) revoke or alter the authority given to a committee, or override a decision made by a committee, except that the revocation or alteration of a committee's authority

does not invalidate a prior act of that committee that would have been valid if the revocation or alteration had not occurred;

- (b) terminate the appointment of, or change the membership of, a committee; and
- (c) fill vacancies on a committee.

11.7 Committee Meetings

Subject to Section 11.5(a) and unless the Board otherwise provides in the resolution appointing the committee or in any subsequent resolution, with respect to a committee appointed under this Article 11:

- (a) the committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks proper;
- (b) the committee may elect a chair of its meetings but, if no chair of the meeting is elected, or if at any meeting the chair of the meeting is not present within 15 minutes after the time set for holding the meeting, the members of the committee may choose one of their number to chair the meeting;
- (c) a majority of the members of a committee constitutes a quorum of the committee; and
- (d) questions arising at any meeting of the committee are determined by a majority of votes of the members present, and in case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting has no second or casting vote.

Article 12 Senior Managers

12.1 Appointment of Senior Managers

The Board may appoint a Chair and a Vice-Chair from among the directors. The Board may further appoint a President, Principal, Secretary, a Treasurer and such other senior managers who need not be directors as the Board may determine. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Chair may act as President, a senior manager may, but need not be, a director, and one person may hold more than one office.

12.2 Senior Manager Positions and Functions

(a) **Chair** – If appointed, the Chair shall, when present, preside at all general meetings, meetings of the Board and of any committees constituted by the Board of which the Chair is a member, sign all instruments which require the Chair's signature in accordance with the Bylaws or otherwise, represent the Society at public or official functions, and have such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to the Chair by the Board.

- (b) **Vice-Chair** If appointed, the Vice-Chair shall be vested with all the powers and perform all the duties of the Chair in the absence of the Chair or upon the inability or unwillingness of the Chair to act.
- (c) **President** The President shall be responsible for matters related to the selection and hiring process, performance, supervision, monitoring, reporting, discipline of the Principal and report to the Board on such matters and have such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to the President by the Board.
- (d) **Principal -** The Principal, shall be charged with the day-to-day management and supervision of the activities and affairs of the Society and such other powers and duties as specified by the Board. The Principal may be an employee of the Society and the Board shall establish the terms and conditions of employment of the Principal.
- (e) Secretary If appointed, the Secretary shall attend all general meetings of the Board except where the chair of the meeting determines that it is inappropriate for the Secretary to attend due to the nature of the matter being discussed. At such meetings, the Secretary shall record all facts and minutes of all proceedings in the books kept for that purpose. The Secretary shall give or cause to be given all notices required to be given to the members, directors, members of committees and auditors, if any. The Secretary shall be the custodian of the corporate seal of the Society, if any, and of all books, papers, records, correspondence, contracts and other documents belonging to the Society, which the Secretary shall deliver up only when authorized by a resolution of the Board to do so and to such person or persons as may be named in the resolution. The Secretary shall sign such documents, contracts or instruments in writing as require the Secretary's signature and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be determined by the Board or as are incidental to the office of the Secretary.
- (f) **Treasurer** If appointed, the Treasurer shall, keep proper accounting records in compliance with the Societies Act and shall be responsible for the deposit of money, the safekeeping of securities and the disbursement of the funds of the Society. The Treasurer shall render to the Board whenever required an account of all transactions involving the Society and of the financial position of the Society and the Treasurer shall have such other powers and duties as the Board may specify.
- (g) Other Senior Managers The powers and duties of all other senior managers of the Society appointed by the Board shall be such as the terms of their engagement call for or the Board prescribes. Any of the powers and duties of a senior manager to whom an assistant has been appointed may be exercised and performed by such assistant, unless the Board otherwise directs.

12.3 Senior Manager Duties and Powers

(a) Notwithstanding Section 12.2, but subject to the Societies Act, the Board may from time to time:

- (i) specify duties of senior managers;
- (ii) delegate powers to manage the activities and affairs of the Society to senior managers; and
- (iii) vary, add to or limit such duties and powers.
- (b) The duties of directors set forth in Section 8.2 apply in relation to a senior manager as if the senior manager were a director of the Society.

12.4 Qualifications

An individual who is not qualified to be a director pursuant to Section 6.3 is not qualified to be a senior manager of the Society. One individual may hold more than one position as a senior manager of the Society. Subject to Section 6.5 and the Societies Act, a director may be a senior manager of the Society.

12.5 Remuneration, Term of Office and Removal

Subject to Section 6.5 and the Societies Act, all appointments of senior managers are to be made on the terms and conditions and at the remuneration (whether by way of salary, fee, commission, or otherwise) that the Board thinks fit. Each senior manager shall serve at the pleasure of the Board and shall hold office until the earlier of:

- (a) being removed by the Board;
- (b) a successor being appointed by the Board;
- (c) the senior manager's resignation or death; or
- (d) no longer being qualified in accordance with Section 12.4,

provided however that such removal is without prejudice to any contractual rights, or rights under law, of the senior manager.

Article 13 Indemnification and Insurance

13.1 Definitions

For the purposes of this Article 13:

- (a) "eligible party" means a current or former director or senior manager of the Society, or an individual who holds or held an equivalent position in a subsidiary of the Society.
- (b) "eligible proceeding" means a legal proceeding (including a civil, criminal, quasi-criminal, administrative or regulatory proceeding) or investigative action, whether current, threatened, pending or completed, in which an eligible party or a

representative by reason of such eligible party holding or having held a position of current or former director or senior manager of the Society or an equivalent position in a subsidiary of the Society is or may be joined as a party, or is or may be liable for or in respect of a penalty in, or expenses related to, the legal proceeding or investigative action.

- (c) "**expense**" includes costs, charges and expenses, including legal and other fees, but does not include penalties.
- (d) "**penalty**" means a judgment, penalty or fine awarded or imposed in, or an amount paid in settlement of, an eligible proceeding.
- (e) "**representative**" means an heir or personal or other legal representative of an eligible party.

13.2 Indemnification

Subject to the Societies Act and Section 13.3, the Society may, and in the case of Section 13.2(c), shall:

- (a) indemnify an eligible party or a representative against all penalties to which the eligible party or the representative is or may be liable in respect of an eligible proceeding;
- (b) pay the expenses actually and reasonably incurred by an eligible party or a representative in respect of an eligible proceeding:
 - (i) after the final disposition of such proceeding; or
 - (ii) as they are incurred in advance of the final disposition of an eligible proceeding provided the Society has first received from such eligible party a written undertaking that, if it is ultimately determined that the payment of expenses is prohibited pursuant to the Societies Act or Section 13.3, the eligible party or the representative will repay the amounts advanced; and
- (c) pay, after the final disposition of an eligible proceeding, the expenses actually and reasonably incurred by an eligible party or a representative in respect of such proceeding if the eligible party or the representative has not been otherwise reimbursed for such expenses and the eligible party was not adjudged to have committed any fault or to have omitted to do anything that the eligible party ought to have done.

13.3 Indemnification Prohibited

Subject to the Societies Act, the Society shall not indemnify or pay the expenses of an eligible party or a representative in respect of an eligible proceeding if:

(a) the eligible party did not act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Society or a subsidiary of the Society, as the case may be;

- (b) the eligible proceeding is not a civil proceeding and the eligible party did not have reasonable grounds for believing that his or her conduct, in respect of which the eligible proceeding was brought, was lawful; or
- (c) such eligible proceeding is brought by or on behalf of the Society or a subsidiary of the Society unless the Supreme Court of British Columbia, on the application of the Society, approves the indemnification or payment of expenses.

13.4 Insurance

The Society may purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of an eligible party or a representative of such eligible party against any liability that may be incurred by reason of the eligible party being or having been a director or senior manager of the Society or holding or having held an equivalent position in a subsidiary of the Society.

Article 14 Auditor

14.1 Application of this Part

This Part applies only where the Society is required to have an auditor or for as long as the Society has resolved by ordinary resolution to have an auditor.

14.2 Appointment of Auditors

The first auditor, if any, shall be appointed by ordinary resolution or by the Board, to hold office until the close of the first annual general meeting following the appointment. Each auditor, if any, subsequent to the first auditor shall be appointed at each annual general meeting, by ordinary resolution, to hold office until the close of the next annual general meeting. If a subsequent auditor is not appointed as required above, and the Society is required to have an auditor pursuant to Section 14.1, the auditor in office continues as auditor until a successor is appointed.

14.3 Remuneration of Auditors

The remuneration of the auditor shall be fixed by the Board.

14.4 Vacancy

If there is a vacancy in the office of auditor created by resignation, death or otherwise, other than by removal under Section 14.5, the Board may appoint an auditor to hold office until the close of the next annual general meeting.

14.5 Removal of Auditors

The Society may, by ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting called for the purpose, remove its auditor before the expiration of the auditor's term of office, and must, by ordinary resolution passed at such general meeting, appoint a person as auditor for the remainder of the term of office of the auditor so removed.

14.6 Notice to Auditor Proposed to be Removed

Before calling a general meeting for the purpose of removing its auditor, the Society must send to the auditor a written notice of the intention to call the meeting, specifying the date on which the notice of the meeting is proposed to be sent, and a copy of all of the materials proposed to be sent to the members in connection with the meeting. The Society must send to the auditor who is proposed to be removed the records referred to above at least 14 days before the date on which the notice of the meeting is sent. The auditor may send to the Society written representations respecting the auditor's proposed removal as auditor, and, if the Society receives those written representations at least 7 days before the date on which the notice of the meeting is sent, the Society must send a copy of those representations with the notice of the meeting.

14.7 Qualification and Independence of Auditor

A person appointed as auditor of the Society shall be qualified to act as an auditor and be independent of the Society within the meaning of the Societies Act.

14.8 Auditor to Attend General Meetings

The auditor of the Society is entitled, in respect of a general meeting, to each notice and other communication relating to the meeting to which a member is entitled, to attend the general meeting, and to be heard at the general meeting on any part of the business of the general meeting that deals with the financial statements of the Society or any other matter with respect to which the auditor has a duty or function. A member may, by written notice received by the Society at least 7 days before such general meeting, require the attendance of the auditor at a general meeting at which the financial statements of the Society are to be considered, or the auditor is to be appointed or removed. If the Society receives such written notice from a member, the Society must promptly inform the auditor, the auditor must attend the general meeting and the Society must pay the expenses of that attendance.

Article 15 Investments, Borrowing, Distributions and Disposal of Undertaking

15.1 Investments

The Society may invest its funds only in an investment in which a prudent investor might invest.

15.2 Borrowing

The Society may from time to time, if authorized by the Board:

- (a) borrow money in the manner and amount, on the security, from the sources and on the terms and conditions that the Board may determine;
- (b) issue bonds, debentures, notes or other evidences of debt obligations either outright or as security for any liability or obligation of the Society at any time, to any person and for any consideration that the Board may determine;

- (c) guarantee the repayment of money by any other person or the performance of any obligation of any other person; and
- (d) mortgage or charge, whether by way of specific or floating charge, or give other security on the whole or any part of the present and future undertaking of the Society.

15.3 Restrictions on Distributions

The Society must not distribute any of its money or other property other than:

- (a) for full and valuable consideration;
- (b) in furtherance of the purposes of the Society;
- (c) to a qualified recipient; or
- (d) for a distribution required or authorized by the Societies Act.

15.4 Disposal of Undertaking

The Society must not sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its undertaking unless the Society has been authorized to do so by special resolution.

Article 16 Notices and Access to Records

Method of Giving Notice

Unless the Societies Act or these Bylaws provide otherwise, a record (including any notice, statement or report) required or permitted by the Societies Act or these Bylaws to be sent to a member, director, senior manager, auditor or other person may be sent by any of the following methods:

- (a) by mail:
 - (i) for a record mailed to a member, director or senior manager to that person's registered address; and
 - (ii) in any other case, the intended recipient's most recent mailing address known to the sender;
- (b) by delivery:
 - (i) for a record delivered to a member, director or senior manager at that person's registered address;

- (ii) for a record delivered to the Society at the delivery address of the registered office of the Society, by leaving the record in a mail box or mail slot for that delivery address; and
- (iii) in any other case by leaving the record with the person or an agent of the person or, in case of a person other than an individual, by leaving the record in a mail box or mail slot for the address at which the person carries on activities or business; or
- (c) if the intended recipient has provided an email address or fax number for that purpose, by email or fax to that email address or fax number.

16.2 Deemed Receipt

A record that is mailed to a person by ordinary mail to the applicable address for that person referred to in Section 16.1 is deemed to be received by the person to whom it was mailed on the beginning of 5th day after the record is mailed. A record that is delivered to a person at the applicable address for that person referred to in Section 16.1 is deemed to be received by the person to whom it was delivered on the beginning of the 3rd day after the record is delivered. If the person has provided an email address or fax number to which records may be sent, a record sent to such email address or fax number is deemed to be received by that person on the beginning of the 3rd day after the record is emailed or faxed to that email address or fax number.

16.3 Certificate of Sending

A certificate signed by the Secretary, if any, or other senior manager of the Society stating that a record was sent as required by Section 16.1 is conclusive evidence of the fact.

16.4 Members entitled to Certain Records

A member is entitled to receive, without charge, one copy of the current constitution and bylaws of the Society and the most recent financial statements of the Society.

Article 17 Signatories

17.1 Signatories

Except for documents executed in the usual and ordinary course of the Society's activities, which may be signed by any senior manager or employee of the Society acting within the scope of his or her authority, the following are the only persons authorized to sign any document on behalf of the Society:

- (a) the Chair together with any other director;
- (b) if the Chair is unable to provide a signature, by the Vice-Chair together with any other director;
- (c) the President together with any other director; or

(d) any individual appointed by resolution of the Board to sign the specific document, that type of document or documents generally on behalf of the Society.

Any document so signed may, but need not, have the corporate seal of the Society applied, if there is one.

17.2 Facsimile Signatures

The signature of any individual authorized to sign on behalf of the Society may, if specifically authorized by resolution of the board, be written, printed, stamped, engraved, lithographed or otherwise mechanically reproduced. Anything so signed shall be as valid as if it had been signed manually, even if that individual has ceased to hold office when anything so signed is issued or delivered, until revoked by resolution of the Board.

17.3 Seal

The Board may provide a common seal for the Society and shall have the power from time to time to destroy it and substitute a new seal in place of the seal destroyed. The common seal shall be affixed only when authorized by a resolution of the Board and then only in the presence of the persons prescribed in the resolution or if no persons are prescribed in the presence of the Chair and Secretary or President and Secretary.

Article 18 Constitution and Bylaw Amendments

18.1 Constitution and Bylaw Amendments

The constitution of the Society and these bylaws must not be amended except by special resolution.

Article 19 Non-Profit Purpose and Dissolution

19.1 Non-Profit Purpose

The Society shall be carried on without purpose of gain for its members and any profits or other gains to the Society shall be used in promoting its purposes.

19.2 Dissolution

Upon the dissolution of the Society and after payment of all debts and liabilities, its remaining funds or property shall be distributed or disposed of to the Foundation, provided the Foundation is a qualified donee (as defined in subsection 149.1(1) of the Income Tax Act (Canada)) at the time of distribution or disposition. If the Foundation is not a qualified donee at such time, the remaining funds or property shall be distributed to one or more qualified to donees having carrying on the work of Catholic Education as determined by ordinary resolution. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any funds or property remaining which had originally been received by the Society for specific purposes may, wherever possible, be distributed to one or

more qualified donees carrying on activities of a similar nature to such specific purposes, as determined by ordinary resolution.